Appeal Nos. 20-CO-728 & 23-CO-724



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

C.P.,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division

REDACTED BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

SAMIA FAM

JACLYN S. FRANKFURT

*ALICE WANG

LEE R. GOEBES

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 633 Third Street NW Washington, DC 20001 (202) 628-1200 awang@pdsdc.org

^{*} Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

In Appeal No. 20-CO-728, appellant was represented in the Superior Court by Reginald Williamson of the Public Defender Service. Appellee was represented by Assistant United States Attorneys Margaret J. Chriss and Daniel Friedman.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether appellant's conviction for sodomy must be vacated pursuant to D.C. Code § 23-110, where: (a) the conviction was obtained under the since-repealed, "unconstitutionally overbroad" sodomy statute, *Valdez v. United States*, No. 18-CF-1340, 2024 WL 3819296, at *30 (D.C. Aug. 15, 2024), without a jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt that the charged act was forcible, nonconsensual, or anything other than constitutionally protected sexual conduct between consenting adults; and (b) appellant's constitutional claim, although previously raised in a pro se § 23-110 motion, was not previously considered and denied "on the merits," and in any event required reconsideration to serve "the ends of justice," *Vaughn v. United States*, 600 A.2d 96, 97 (D.C. 1991).
- 2. Whether appellant can be subject to lifetime sex offender registration based on his conviction for sodomy and the Superior Court's finding by a preponderance of the evidence that the sodomy was "forcible," D.C. Code § 22-4001(6)(A), where: (a) sex offender registration is a "severe penalty" that triggers the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, *Fallen v. United States*, 290 A.3d 486, 489 (D.C. 2023), and thus may not be imposed based on a fact found by a judge instead of a jury; (b) procedural due process requires a standard of proof higher than a preponderance of the evidence when the risk of error threatens significantly greater harm to the individual than to the government; and (c) the record in this case did not permit a reasonable factfinder to conclude by even a preponderance of the evidence that the sodomy was "forcible."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

On October 3, 1979, a grand jury indicted appellant C.P.¹ on two counts of rape, in violation of former D.C. Code § 22-2801 (1973) (repealed), and two counts of sodomy, in violation of former D.C. Code § 22-3502 (1973) (repealed). App. 1–2.² On March 11, 1980, after a jury trial before the Honorable Sylvia Bacon, the jury convicted Mr. P. of oral sodomy and acquitted him of all other charges. *Id.* at 12. Judge Bacon sentenced Mr. P. to three to nine years in prison. *Id.* at 3.

On August 20, 2018, Mr. P. filed a motion pursuant to D.C. Code § 22-4004 challenging the determination of the Court Services and Offender Supervision Agency (CSOSA) that he was subject to lifetime sex offender registration under the Sex Offender Registration Act of 1999 (SORA) based on his sodomy conviction. *Id.* at 73. On June 16, 2020, the Honorable Laura A. Cordero denied the motion in a written order that was subsequently vacated and reentered on December 1, 2020. *Id.* at 93, 101. Mr. P. filed a timely notice of appeal in Case No. 20-CO-728. *Id.* at 103.

On September 27, 2021, Mr. P. filed a motion pursuant to D.C. Code § 23-110 challenging the constitutionality of his sodomy conviction. *Id.* at 105. On August 4, 2023, Judge Cordero denied the motion in a written order. *Id.* at 117. Mr. P. filed a timely notice of appeal in Case No. 23-CO-0724. *Id.* at 123.

This Court consolidated the two appeals on October 2, 2023. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

¹ Appellant has filed a motion to recaption this case using his initials, as this Court has done with other appeals challenging sex offender registration.

² Citations to "App. *" refer to page numbers marked in the Appendix for Appellant, which includes portions of the appellate records in these consolidated cases.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Overview

More than forty years ago, appellant C.P. and his cousin Roy Leasure were jointly tried on two counts of rape and two counts of sodomy for allegedly forcing eighteen-year-old G.D. to engage in vaginal, oral, and anal sex on June 12, 1979. At that time, rape was defined as the forcible, nonconsensual penetration of the vulva by the penis, and sodomy was defined as the penetration of the mouth or the anus by the penis, regardless of whether the participants consented to the act. *See* Criminal Jury Instructions for the District of Columbia §§ 4.74, 4.79 (3d ed. 1978).

The main factual dispute at trial was whether the sexual activity was forcible or consensual. Ms. D. told the jury that, after she accepted a ride from Mr. P. and Mr. Leasure around 1:00 a.m. on June 12, 1979, the men drove her to Congressional Cemetery and forced her to engage in vaginal intercourse with each of them, as well as oral and anal sodomy with Mr. P. App. 12–13 (citing Tr. 100–06); *id.* at 40 (citing Tr. 100–07).³ Testifying in his own defense, Mr. P. conceded having vaginal and oral sex with Ms. D. but maintained that all sexual activity was consensual and did not include anal sodomy. *Id.* at 16, 40. At the close of the evidence, the defense requested a jury instruction on a consent defense to sodomy, arguing that substantive due process precluded the government from criminalizing consensual sexual activity

³ Because the trial transcript was no longer available by the time the postconviction motions in this case were litigated, App. 96 n.1, the court relied on descriptions of the trial testimony contained in the appellate briefing, which included citations to the then-available transcript, *id.* at 96–99 (citing Mr. P.'s appellate brief (Ex. B) and the government's motion for summary affirmance (Ex. 6)). This brief does the same.

between adults. *Id.* at 16–17, 40. The trial court denied the request and "instructed the jury pursuant to the standard jury instructions," *id.* at 17, that while force and nonconsent were essential elements of rape, consent was "not a defense to sodomy," and it was "immaterial whether or not [the complainant] consented to the act alleged in the indictment." Criminal Jury Instructions §§ 4.74, 4.79. Thus instructed, and apparently crediting Mr. P.'s account of consensual vaginal and oral sex but no anal sex, the jury acquitted Mr. P. of rape and anal sodomy, and convicted him of oral sodomy. App. 17, 40.

After being released on parole in 2018, Mr. P. filed postconviction motions challenging both his sodomy conviction and the requirement that he register as a sex offender based on that conviction. *Id.* at 73, 105. Notwithstanding the jury's apparent determination that the charged sodomy was consensual and not forcible, Judge Cordero (who did not preside over the jury trial) found that the court records presented by the government—in particular, a police report and a preliminary hearing transcript describing Ms. D.'s out-of-court statements to the police—proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the oral sodomy was "forcible." Id. at 96-99. Based on that judicial finding, and without a jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt that the charged sodomy was anything other than constitutionally protected sexual conduct between consenting adults, Judge Cordero rejected Mr. P.'s constitutional challenge to his sodomy conviction, id. at 121, and ordered lifetime sex offender registration based on his conviction for sodomy "where the offense was forcible," id. at 94 (quoting D.C. Code § 22-4001(6)(A), and adding emphasis); id. at 99–100. This consolidated appeal challenges those rulings.

II. The Trial, Judgment, and Direct Appeal

Ms. D. testified at trial that, on the evening of June 11, 1979, she went to a drive-in movie and smoked some marijuana with her cousin Janet and her friend Al White. App. 12 (citing Tr. 81–83). Around midnight, they went back to Mr. White's apartment, and after Ms. D. refused to have sex with Mr. White, he drove the two women to the intersection of Southern Avenue and Wheeler Road and dropped them off there. *Id.* (citing Tr. 84). Around 1:00 a.m., while Ms. D. and her cousin were waiting at a bus stop, a car driven by Mr. P. approached, and one of the passengers, Mr. Leasure, offered her a ride home. *Id.* at 12, 40 (citing Tr. 87–89). Ms. D. accepted the offer, leaving her cousin at the bus stop and telling her, "I will call you when I get home, or wherever I end up at." Id. at 12, 14 (quoting Tr. 143). Ms. D. sat in the back seat of the car next to a female passenger, Sheila Barnes. *Id.* at 12 (citing Tr. 90). After Ms. D. passed around a marijuana cigarette, Mr. P. drove to a store to buy some beer. Id. He then drove Ms. Barnes home because she was not feeling well. *Id.* at 12–13 (citing Tr. 94). Ms. D. testified that, after dropping off Ms. Barnes, Mr. P. drove toward Congressional Cemetery, which he said was "where we do our business." Id. at 13 (citing Tr. 98–99). On the way to the cemetery, Ms. D. told the men that she had been beaten, robbed, and raped earlier in the evening, which she later told the jury was a lie. *Id.* at 14 (citing Tr. 176–77). Ms. D. testified that, when they reached "all the way to the back of the cemetery," id. at 13 (quoting Tr. 99), where "she could not see any houses, lights or other people," the men asked if she would "trick" for them, and she said "no," id. at 13 (citing Tr. 100). According to Ms. D., the men "ordered" her to undress, and Mr. P. "forced her to submit to anal and oral sodomy and finally intercourse" in the back seat of the car. *Id.* at 13 (citing Tr. 103–05); *id.* at 40 (citing Tr. 100–05). Afterward, Mr. Leasure led her to a blanket on the ground near the car, "where he slapped her and engaged in intercourse." *Id.* at 13 (citing Tr. 105–06); *id.* at 40 (citing Tr. 105–07). Mr. Leasure then woke up Mr. P., who had fallen asleep inside the car, and Mr. P. drove her home. *Id.* at 13.

Mr. P. testified in his own defense. *Id.* at 16, 40. He recounted that, after they dropped off Ms. Barnes, Ms. D. asked if they would "like to go someplace dark, finish getting high[.]" *Id.* at 16 (quoting Tr. 403). Mr. P. "interpreted this comment to be an invitation for sexual activity and proceeded to drive to the cemetery." *Id.* According to Mr. P., Ms. D. "readily consented to sexual conduct"—first with him, and then with Mr. Leasure. *Id.* Mr. P. admitted to engaging in vaginal and oral sex with Ms. D. but denied engaging in anal sex. *Id.* at 16 (citing Tr. 404); *id.* at 40 (citing Tr. 404–06, 428–31). After Mr. P. and Ms. D. had sex in the car, Ms. D. left the car to have sex with Mr. Leasure, and Mr. P. fell asleep. *Id.* at 16. Mr. P. testified that Ms. D. "voluntarily participate[d] in all the sexual activity of that evening." *Id.* (citing Tr. 405). Mr. Leasure did not testify at trial. *Id.* at 16, 40.

Ms. D. testified that the men dropped her off at home around daybreak, between 5:00 and 6:00 a.m., and that "she had to be home before her mother got up." *Id.* at 13, 15. About fifteen minutes after she arrived home, the phone rang, and her mother answered. *Id.* at 13. Ms. D. picked up another extension and recognized the caller as Mr. Leasure. *Id.* According to Ms. D., Mr. Leasure knew her phone number because he had searched her purse and written down her phone number and address during the drive from the cemetery. *Id.* at 13–14 (citing Tr. 110). When her mother

told the caller that Ms. D. was not home, Mr. Leasure volunteered that he had just driven her home. *Id.* at 14. Ms. D. then hung up the phone. *Id.* She did not tell her mother at that time that she had been raped, and instead went to sleep. *Id.*

When she woke up around noon, Ms. D. called her cousin Janet and told her she had been raped. *Id.* While on the phone with Janet, she received a call from Mr. Leasure, who asked her to meet him at Sixth and Chesapeake Streets. *Id.* Janet then told their cousin William Graham that Ms. D. had been sexually assaulted, and Ms. D. later called Mr. Graham to tell him the same. *Id.* (citing Tr. 116).

Around 3:00 p.m., Ms. D. and several of her cousins arrived at Sixth and Chesapeake to meet Mr. Leasure. *Id.* As Mr. Graham confronted Mr. Leasure, a police car drove by, and Ms. D. told the police for the first time "what had happened." *Id.* (quoting Tr. 120). The police arrested Mr. Leasure at that time. *Id.* (citing Tr. 319). Ms. D. accompanied the police to Congressional Cemetery and pointed out the location of the alleged assault, *id.* at 15 (citing Tr. 329), but she refused to undergo a medical or forensic examination, *id.* (citing Tr. 193–94).

Mr. Leasure's aunt, Wilemina Lawson, testified that Ms. D. had come to her house alone looking for Mr. Leasure about an hour before he was arrested. *Id.* at 16 (citing Tr. 374–75). Ms. D. denied doing so. *Id.* at 15 (citing Tr. 192).

After being instructed that force and nonconsent were essential elements of rape but not of sodomy, *see supra* pp. 3–4, the jury acquitted Mr. P. of rape and anal sodomy (which he had denied), and convicted him of oral sodomy (which he had effectively conceded in the absence of his requested consent defense). *Id.* at 17, 40. The jury also acquitted Mr. Leasure of all charges. *Id.* at 17, 40.

On June 19, 1980, Judge Bacon sentenced Mr. P. to a prison term of three to nine years. *Id.* at 3. On appeal, Mr. P. challenged the constitutionality of his sodomy conviction, arguing that the sodomy statute's criminalization of consensual sexual conduct between adults violated substantive due process, and thus the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on his consent defense. *Id.* at 11, 18–19. The government moved for summary affirmance, arguing that Mr. P.'s constitutional claim was foreclosed by this Court's then-binding case law. *Id.* at 39. On October 19, 1981, a two-judge panel of this Court summarily affirmed Mr. P.'s sodomy conviction in an unpublished judgment. *Id.* at 46.

III. Postconviction Litigation

On March 4, 1982, Mr. P. filed a motion to reduce his sentence pursuant to Rule 35 of the Superior Court Rules of Criminal Procedure, arguing that the jury's verdicts reflected its determination that the sodomy was consensual. *Id.* at 49–50. Judge Bacon denied the motion on March 9, 1982. *Id.* at 56.

On December 22, 2004, after the D.C. Council decriminalized consensual sodomy between adults in the Right to Privacy Amendment Act of 1993, and after the U.S. Supreme Court held in *Lawrence v. Texas*, 539 U.S. 558, 578 (2003), that a conviction for consensual sodomy between adults violated substantive due process, Mr. P. filed a pro se motion pursuant to D.C. § 23-110 to vacate his sodomy conviction on both statutory and constitutional grounds. App. 57. He contended not only that "the new statute" entitled him to the consent instruction he had requested at trial, *id.* at 60, but that his conviction for sodomy was "unconstitutional" because it rested on "nothing other than consentual [sic] acts between two adults," *id.* at 61.

The Honorable Brian F. Holeman denied the pro se motion without appointing counsel or holding a hearing. Although the court acknowledged in its written order that Mr. P. had raised both statutory and constitutional claims, *id.* at 65–66, the court resolved only the statutory claim, ruling that the Right to Privacy Amendment Act of 1993 did not apply retroactively to Mr. P.'s case, *id.* at 68–69.

After Mr. P. was released on parole on June 15, 2018, CSOSA determined that he was subject to lifetime sex offender registration based on his conviction for "Sodomy (against an adult)." *Id.* at 71–72. On August 20, 2018, Mr. P. filed a motion pursuant to D.C. Code § 22-4004 challenging CSOSA's determination, arguing that his conviction for sodomy did not require him to register under SORA because the jury did not find that he committed sodomy "by force," and sodomy "without force" is not a registration offense. *Id.* at 73–75. In opposing the § 22-4004 motion, the government presented two police reports, a preliminary hearing transcript, and its motion for summary affirmance, arguing that "the record in the case demonstrates, by at least a preponderance, that the defendant committed forcible oral sodomy." *Id.* at 78–81. On June 16, 2020, Judge Cordero denied the § 22-4004 motion, finding that the court records presented by the government proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the sodomy was "forcible," *id.* at 96, and ordered Mr. P. to register as a sex offender for the rest of his life, *id.* at 100.

On September 27, 2021, Mr. P. filed a second § 23-110 motion to vacate his conviction, this time represented by counsel. He argued that the Supreme Court's decision in *Lawrence* made clear that his sodomy conviction was unconstitutional, *id.* at 110: not only did "the terms of the statute" fail "to require the government to

prove everything the Constitution requires it to prove for a criminal sanction to be imposed," *id.* at 111–12 (quoting *Conley v. United States*, 79 A.3d 270, 277 (D.C. 2013)), but the jury instructions permitted him to be "convicted of oral sodomy without any jury finding that the act was non-consensual," *id.* at 114. On August 4, 2023, Judge Cordero denied the § 23-110 motion, ruling that Mr. P.'s constitutional claim was "procedurally barred" as "successive" because it had been previously raised in his pro se § 23-110 motion and "denied on the merits" by Judge Holeman, *id.* at 119–20, and that, even if not procedurally barred, the claim failed on the merits because, in ordering him to register as a sex offender, the court had found by a preponderance of the evidence that the sodomy was "*forcible*," and *Lawrence* was "inapplicable to nonconsensual oral sodomy in a public space," *id.* at 121.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant's sodomy conviction must be vacated because the former sodomy statute was unconstitutionally overbroad, and the jury instructions permitted him to be convicted of nothing more than constitutionally protected sexual conduct between consenting adults. That claim was not procedurally barred as "successive" because, although it was previously raised pro se, it was not previously considered and denied on the merits, and "the ends of justice" required it to be redetermined in any event.

Even if appellant's sodomy conviction is upheld, the order subjecting him to lifetime sex offender registration, based on a judicial finding by a preponderance that the sodomy was "forcible," must be reversed. Because sex offender registration is a "severe penalty" that triggers the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, appellant was entitled to have a jury, not a judge, find the requisite fact of force. He was also

entitled to have that finding made by more than a preponderance of the evidence because, as the individual and government interests at stake have changed over time, procedural due process now requires that the government bear a greater share of the risk of error in a § 22-4004 proceeding. Finally, reversal is required because the court records presented by the government in the § 22-4004 proceeding were insufficient as a matter of law to prove by even a preponderance that the sodomy was "forcible."

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

- I. Appellant's Conviction Must Be Vacated Under D.C. Code § 23-110.
 - A. Appellant's Sodomy Conviction Is Unconstitutional.

Mr. P.'s conviction must be vacated because it was obtained under the since-repealed, "unconstitutionally overbroad" sodomy statute, *Valdez v. United States*, No. 18-CF-1340, 2024 WL 3819296, at *30 (D.C. Aug. 15, 2024), without a jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt that the charged act was anything other than constitutionally protected conduct. At the time of Mr. P.'s charged conduct in 1979, "[t]he District's former sodomy statute, which was repealed in 1995, made it a felony offense," punishable by up to ten years in prison, "to engage in oral or anal sex, regardless of the circumstances." *Id.*⁴ "The statute criminalized not only sexual

⁴ See D.C. Code § 22-3502(a) (1973) (repealed) ("Every person who shall be convicted of taking into his or her mouth or anus the sexual organ of any other person or animal, or who shall be convicted of placing his or her sexual organ in the mouth or anus of any other person or animal, or who shall be convicted of having carnal copulation in an opening of the body except sexual parts with another person, shall be fined not more than \$1,000 or be imprisoned for a period not exceeding ten years. Any person convicted under this section of committing such act with a person under the age of sixteen years shall be fined not more than \$1,000 or be imprisoned for a period not exceeding twenty years.").

assaults and other predatory, nonconsensual acts, but also private acts of sodomy between consenting adults." *Id.*; *see Harley v. United States*, 373 A.2d 898, 901 (D.C. 1977) ("consent is not a defense to the crime of sodomy"). Thus, "pursuant to the standard jury instructions" and this Court's case law at the time of trial, App. 17, 40, the trial court instructed the jury that consent was "immaterial" to the offense of sodomy. Criminal Jury Instructions for the District of Columbia § 4.79 (3d ed. 1978).

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