#### BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

\_\_\_\_\_

### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Nos. 20-CO-728 & 23-CO-724

Clerk of the Court Received 03/17/2025 01:13 PM Filed 03/17/2025 01:13 PM

CHARLES PERKINS,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

EDWARD R. MARTIN, JR. United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB

\* ERIC HANSFORD
D.C. Bar #1017785
Assistant United States Attorneys

\* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Eric.Hansford@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 1979-FEL-3237

#

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

# C. Perkins's Attacks on His Sodomy Conviction Are Procedurally Barred.

In any event, Perkins's 2021 collateral attack on his 1980 conviction is barred many times over. This Court reviews the denial of a § 23-110

motion on procedural grounds for abuse of discretion. See Richardson v. United States, 8 A.3d 1245, 1251 (D.C. 2010).

To begin, as explained above, the challenge Perkins is now trying to raise through his § 23-110 petition is the exact same claim that he raised in his direct appeal. Lawrence did not change the legal landscape: this Court had already assumed—long before *Lawrence*—the existence of constitutional right that Lawrence found. Given Perkins's the unsuccessful direct appeal, two related doctrines thus bar Perkins's new § 23-110. "The mandate of an appeals court precludes the trial court on remand from reconsidering matters which were either expressly or implicitly disposed of upon appeal." Willis v. United States, 692 A.2d 1380, 1382 (D.C. 1997) (cleaned up). Further, the "law of the case precludes reopening questions resolved by an earlier appeal in the same case." Thompson v. Armstrong, 134 A.3d 305, 309 (D.C. 2016) (quotation marks omitted); see also, e.g., Campbell v. United States, 224 A.3d 205, 211 n.2 (D.C. 2020); Graham v. United States, 895 A.2d 305, 308 n.5 (D.C. 2006); Willis, 692 A.2d at 1383. Although this Court's judgment on direct appeal did not explain its reasoning, the affirmance of Perkins's conviction necessarily required this Court to conclude that Perkins's

conduct was not constitutionally protected. See, e.g., Head v. United States, 626 A.2d 1382, 1384 (D.C. 1993) (recognizing that by denying motion, "the court found that it did not have sufficient merit"). That prior decision remains binding.

Perkins's 2004 § 23-110 motion creates additional procedural bars, because his most recent § 23-110 was "successive" to that prior motion. Under § 23-110(e), "[t]he court shall not be required to entertain a second or successive motion for similar relief on behalf of the same prisoner." "A motion is 'successive' if it raises claims identical to those raised and denied on the merits in a prior motion," even if the specifics of the legal claim are different. Bradley v. United States, 881 A.2d 640, 645 (D.C. 2005) (emphasis added). For example, if a defendant raises a claim of ineffective assistance in his first § 23-110, a claim of ineffectiveness in a second § 23-110 is deemed "successive," even if the theories for ineffectiveness are different. See id. at 645-46. As Perkins concedes (Br. 21), his 2004 § 23-110 motion "argued that consensual oral sodomy was no longer considered a crime between two consenting adults" and his conviction was thus "unconstitutional," "the same legal basis for relief as the claim made in the instant Motion" (App. 120). Judge Holeman denied

that 2004 § 23-110 motion "on the merits," finding that "the Defendant 'faile[d] to establish grounds indicating that the sentence imposed was in violation of the Constitution of the United States" (id.). Even assuming that Judge Holeman was not thinking of Lawrence (see Br. 20-23)—an implausible assumption, given Lawrence's prominence and relevance—it remains a merits denial of the same constitutional claim. See also Bernal v. United States, 162 A.3d 128, 134 n.10 (D.C. 2017) ("Judges are presumed to know the law.").

In any event, even if Perkins had never previously raised his current § 23-110 claim, it would still be procedurally barred. "[W]here a defendant has failed to raise an available challenge to his conviction on direct appeal, he may not raise that issue on collateral attack unless he shows both cause for his failure to do so and prejudice as a result of his failure." Long, 36 A.3d at 378; see Frady, 456 U.S. at 167-68. The same goes for claims he failed to raise in an earlier § 23-110 motion, which are barred as an "abuse of the writ," see McCrimmon v. United States, 853 A.2d 154, 159 (D.C. 2004); McCleskey v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 490 (1991), and a successive claim, see Hardy v. United States, 988 A.2d 950, 960 (D.C. 2010).

Perkins cannot escape these procedural bars. To show "cause" for failure to raise a claim earlier, a defendant "must show (if he can) that he 'was prevented by exceptional circumstances' from raising the claim at the appropriate time." Hardy, 988 A.2d at 960-61. Perkins offers no "exceptional circumstances" that prevented him from raising his constitutional claim in the direct appeal or 2004 § 23-110 motion. Instead, he contends that he should be exempt from the cause-andprejudice requirements based on "the ends of justice," because he was acting pro se in his first § 23-110 motion and is "actually innocent" (Br. 23-26). Perkins's pro se status at the time of his first § 23-110 does not relieve the procedural bar here (cf. Br. 24-25). To the extent that Perkins's pro se § 23-110 motion filed in 2004 raised the same claims that were addressed on direct appeal, he had no entitlement to counsel in his collateral attack. See, e.g., Wu v. United States, 798 A.2d 1083, 1089 (D.C. 2002) (appointment of counsel not required where § 23-110 motion fails

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> To the extent it still exists at all, the "ends of justice" standard that Perkins invokes (Br. 20-21) is equivalent to "actual innocence." *See Schlup v. Delo*, 513 U.S. 298, 318-23 (1995); *see also Banister v. Davis*, 590 U.S. 504, 514 (2020) (explaining that "ends of justice" standard was abrogated by the statutory bar on "second or successive" petitions).

to state a claim). Indeed, since most § 23-110 petitions are filed by pro se defendants, excusing defaults in pro se filings would largely erase the existence of procedural bars.

Nor has Perkins shown actual innocence. "To establish actual innocence, petitioner must demonstrate that, in light of all the evidence, it is more likely than not that no reasonable juror would have convicted him." Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S. 614, 623 (1998) (cleaned up); see Ward v. United States, 318 A.3d 520, 529 (D.C. 2024). Here, "actual innocence' means factual innocence, not mere legal insufficiency." Bousley, 523 U.S. at 623.

Perkins has not "demonstrated" that "it is more likely than not that no reasonable juror would have convicted him." *Bousley*, 523 U.S. at 623. Most obviously, because the sodomy statute validly captured sexual conduct in public areas like the Congressional Cemetery, Perkins was guilty. *See supra* Part I.B. Further, as explained below, compelling evidence established that G.D. did not consent, and the jury's verdict did not find otherwise. *See infra* Part II.C. In any event, the actual-innocence inquiry asks not what the original jury thought, but whether Perkins can show that "no reasonable juror" would have convicted him. Perkins has

not met that standard. Because of Perkins's decades-long delay in bringing his claims, the original trial transcripts no longer exist. That "unjustifiable delay on a habeas petitioner's part" is "a factor in determining whether actual innocence has been reliably shown," undercutting a claim of actual innocence. McQuiggin v. Perkins, 569 U.S. 383, 387 (2013). Moreover, in denying the motion for judgment of acquittal on the rape count, the trial judge found that the evidence as to the victim's lack of consent "was sufficient to permit reasonable jurors to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Dyson v. United States, 450 A.2d 432, 436 (D.C. 1982). Particularly given that the trial "came down to a credibility contest" between the victim and the defendant, it is appropriate to defer to the determinations of the trial judge who watched the testimony. Hart v. United States, 863 A.2d 866, 873 (D.C. 2004). While some evidence corroborated the victim's testimony (such as her report of the rape and the recovery of her underwear in the cemetery), Perkins points to nothing that corroborated his own contrary testimony. On this record, Perkins has failed to carry his burden to establish actual innocence. His attempt to overturn his 1980 sodomy conviction is thus also procedurally barred.

# II. Perkins's Attacks on His Sex-Offender Registration Fail.

#### A. Additional Legal Principles and Standard of Review

"SORA requires persons who have committed serious sex offenses to register with CSOSA if they live, reside, work, or attend school in the District of Columbia." Cox v. United States, 325 A.3d 360, 368 (D.C. 2024). A person who has committed a "lifetime registration offense" must register as a sex offender for life. See D.C. Code § 22-4002. A "lifetime registration offense" includes "sodomy as this offense was proscribed until May 23, 1995 by § 22-3802(a) where the offense was forcible," or any "substantially similar" offense. D.C. Code § 22-4001(6).8

"If CSOSA determines that a person is required to register based on a factual determination about the nature of the conduct underlying that person's . . . offense, the person may seek review of that factual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Although today's codification references a sodomy conviction proscribed by "D.C. Code § 22-3802(a)," SORA originally referred to a sodomy conviction proscribed by § 22-3502(a), the statute under which Perkins was convicted. After the sodomy statute was repealed, it was recodified to D.C. Code § 22-3802. These sorts of post-enactment recodifications do not affect statutory meaning. See In re W.M., 851 A.2d 431, 442 (D.C. 2004); see also Hickerson v. United States, 287 A.3d 237, 241 (D.C. 2023).

determination in Superior Court." *Cox*, 325 A.3d at 368. Such reviewable factual determinations include a finding that "certain sexual acts or contacts were forcible." D.C. Code § 22-4004(a)(ii). SORA instructs how the dispute should be resolved:

The Court may, in its sole discretion, decide a motion made under subsection (a) of this section on the basis of the motion, affidavits, the files and records of the case, other written documents, proffers of the parties, or an evidentiary hearing. If the Court determines that a hearing is necessary to decide the issue or if the interests of justice otherwise require, the Court shall appoint counsel for the person if he or she is not represented by counsel and meets the financial criteria for the appointment of counsel.

D.C. Code § 22-4004(c)(1). "The Superior Court decides that factual issue de novo, and the United States bears the burden of proving the disputed fact by a preponderance of the evidence." *Cox*, 325 A.3d at 368 (citing *In re W.M.*, 851 A.2d 431, 455 (D.C. 2004)).

In turn, this Court reviews a trial court's finding that the "offense involved the use or threatened use of force" for "sufficiency of the evidence." Cox, 325 A.3d at 375-76. Sufficiency "review is deferential, giving full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." Id. at 376 (quotation marks

omitted). Further, the trial court's underlying factual findings are reviewed for clear error, reversible only if "the finding is plainly wrong or without evidence to support it." *Id.* (quotation marks omitted). The clear-error standard applies "to all factual determinations made by the trial court, even those that rest on review of documents rather than live testimony." *Id.* at 376-77.

### B. Perkins's Procedural Challenges Are Unpreserved and Unsuccessful.

For the first time on appeal, Perkins raises two procedural objections to the trial court's registration order, contending that under the SORA statute, the finding that the sodomy was "forcible" should have been made by a jury instead of a judge (Br. 28-33) and requires a standard of proof higher than preponderance of the evidence (Br. 33-40). Perkins's three-page motion by PDS counsel below (App. 73-75) never hinted at these arguments. Instead, his motion requested judicial factfinding under W.M.'s preponderance standard, saying that he was "request[ing] that this Court find that he is not required to register as a sex offender," and asserting under W.M. that "it is the government that has the burden

to show that Mr. Perkins can be required to register as a sex offender" (App. 73, 75) (emphasis added).<sup>9</sup>

The invited-error doctrine "precludes a party from asserting as error on appeal a course that [they have] induced the trial court to take." Young v. United States, 305 A.3d 402, 430 (D.C. 2023) (citing Preacher v. United States, 934 A.2d 363, 368 (D.C. 2007)). Further, SORA is a civil scheme. See W.M., 851 A.2d at 441-46. Even if Perkins's new arguments for a jury trial and a higher standard of proof are merely deemed forfeited, they still are not properly presented on appeal at all, as he has never claimed (or shown) that those procedural arguments present an "exceptional situation" where "review is necessary to prevent a clear miscarriage of justice apparent from the record." Thompson v. United States, 322 A.3d 509, 515 (D.C. 2024) (quotation marks and brackets omitted); see also id. (reserving judgment even in § 23-110 context on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Perkins seems to acknowledge (Br. 39-40) that he never argued below for a heightened standard of review. And the sentence he cites from the general background description of his trial—"The complainant testified at trial and after deliberations in this matter the jury did not convict Mr. Perkins or the co-defendant of any of any sex offenses involving force, including the offense of Rape" (App. 74)—was not an assertion that under SORA, Judge Cordero was required to empanel a jury to resolve whether his sodomy offense was forcible (cf. Br. 32 n.16).

whether unraised claims are subject to review, given "hybrid" criminal and civil nature of § 23-110 proceeding).

At most, Perkins's claims are subject to plain-error review. Under that standard, Perkins must show: (1) "an error or defect"; (2) that is plain, meaning "clear or obvious, rather than subject to reasonable dispute"; (3) that "affected [his] substantial rights, which in the ordinary case means he must demonstrate that it affected the outcome of the [trial] court proceedings"; in which case, (4) "the court of appeals has the discretion to remedy the error—discretion which ought to be exercised only if the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings." *Puckett v. United States*, 556 U.S. 129, 135 (2009) (quoting *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 736 (1993)). 10

Perkins's attempt to cut the "plainness" requirement from the plainerror standard (Br. 39) finds no support. Under his theory, an appellate court which finds "error" must automatically also deem that error "plain." Such a theory is contrary to substantial precedent finding a trial court's decision to be "error, but not plain error." See, e.g., United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 14 (1985); Ko v. United States, 722 A.2d 830, 835-36 (D.C. 1998); Green v. United States, 718 A.2d 1042, 1059 (D.C. 1998) (citing Foreman v. United States, 633 A.2d 792, 794 (D.C. 1993)); Robinson v. United States, 513 A.2d 218, 224 (D.C. 1986) (citing Brown v. United States, 387 A.2d 728, 730-31 (D.C. 1978)). Likewise, that theory (continued . . . )

Perkins shows no error on these procedural issues, let alone plain error. Perkins asserts that, in light of constitutional principles, the statute should be interpreted to require a jury and heightened standard of review. Such statutory arguments are baseless.<sup>11</sup>

would contradict the familiar alternative ruling that "there was no error, and certainly no plain error." See, e.g., Musacchio v. United States, 577 U.S. 237, 248 (2016); Jones v. United States, 127 A.3d 1173, 1188 (D.C. 2015); Ball v. United States, 26 A.3d 764, 772 (D.C. 2011); Brown v. United States, 840 A.2d 82, 94 (D.C. 2004); Hawthorne v. United States, 829 A.2d 948, 953 (D.C. 2003).

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